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Statement of the Proceedi ngs

These consol i dated proceedi ngs concern an i mm nent danger
wi t hdrawal order served on Cimax by MSHA pursuant to section
107(a) of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977, and a
subsequent civil penalty proposal filed by MSHA pursuant to
section 110(a) of the Act, seeking a civil penalty assessnent
based on the conditions described in the order, as well as two
other alleged violations of certain mandatory safety standards.

Cimax filed tinmely notices of contests in the proceedings
and the parties engaged in extensive prehearing discovery,
i ncl udi ng the taking of
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depositions. A hearing was conducted in Denver, Colorado, July
16 and 17, 1980, and the parties appeared and parti ci pated
therein. dimax filed posthearing briefs, but MSHA did not, and
its failure to do so was "due to a shortage of clerical personne
in our office" (August 19, 1980, letter from Denver Regi ona
Counsel ).

Applicable Statutory Provisions

1. The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30
U S.C. 0801 et seq

2. Section 110(i) of the 1977 Act, 30 U S. C. [10820(i),
whi ch requires consideration of the following criteria before a
civil penalty may be assessed for a proven violation: (1) the
operator's history of previous violations, (2) the
appropri ateness of such penalty to the size of the business of
the operator, (3) whether the operator was negligent, (4) the
effect on the operator's ability to continue in business, (5) the
gravity of the violation, and (6) the denonstrated good faith of
the operator in attenpting to achieve rapid conpliance after
notification of the violation

3. Commission Rules, 29 CF.R [02700.1 et seq.
Sti pul ations
The parties stipulated to the following (Tr. 5-6):

1. dinmx Ml ybdenum Conpany is a |large m ne operator, is
subj ect to the provisions of the Act, and any civil penalties
assessed by ne in these proceedings will not adversely affect its
ability to continue in business.

2. CGovernment Exhibits G 1 through G 8, consisting of eight
phot ographs taken by Cimax concerning sone of the citations
i ssued in these proceedings, as well as Exhibit G9, a conputer
printout detailing Aimax's prior history of violations, may be
received in evidence.

Di scussi on

On Decenber 11, 1978, MSHA inspector Richard F. King issued
a conbi ned section 104(a) citation and a section 107(a)
i mm nent - danger order. The citation alleges a violation of 30
C.F.R 0[57.12-30, and describes the follow ng conditions or
practices which Inspector King believed collectively constituted
an i nm nent danger, as well as individual violations of severa
mandat ory safety standards which he |isted on the face of the
order in brackets designated by a nunerical reference to the
speci fic standard:

The electricially powered equi pment on the core dril
| ocated at 9 IVL East, 929 Level had not been | ocked
out before mechanical work was done on the drill.
(12-16). The power cable to the notor on the drill had



not been isolated (4-11), the power cable to the
swi tchbox on the drill rig was
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not bushed (12-8), the 2/ 0 power cable feeding the dril
rig had an i nadequate splice in it 180 ft. east down the
drift (12-13). 240 ft. east down the drift, were [sic]
the power-cable enters the main switch, it was not bushed
(12-8).

Each of the bracketed nunerical references in the "condition
or practice" portion of the order is a reference to a section of
the mandatory safety standards found in Part 57, and they are
item zed in petitioner's civil penalty proposals as foll ows:

Citation or Order No. Dat e 30 C.F.R Standard
331891 A 12/ 11/ 78 57.12-30
331891 B 12/ 11/ 78 57.4-11
331891 C 12/ 11/ 78 57.12-8
331891 D 12/ 11/ 78 57.12-13
331891 E 12/ 11/ 78 57.12-16
331891 F 12/ 11/ 78 57.12-8

Petitioner's nmotion to withdraw its civil penalty proposa
for Ctation No. 331891 B, Decenber 11, 1978, citing an all eged
violation of 30 CF. R [57.4-11, was granted fromthe bench and
the citation was dismssed (Tr. 7).

MSHA' s Testi nony and Evi dence

I nspector Richard King testified that he has been enpl oyed
by MSHA as an inspector since 1975, and prior to that tinme he had
6 years' mning experience with Homestake M ning Conpany. He
holds a B.S. degree fromthe Black Hills State College in
Spearfish, South Dakota, has done graduate work in crimna
justice, and has received training and taken a nunber of NMSHA
training courses at the m ne acadeny in Beckley, West Virginia,

i ncluding several courses in electricity. He confirnmed that he
i nspected the mne in question on Decenber 11, 1978, at the No. 9
I ntake Vent Lateral East on the 929 |evel.

M. King identified photographic Exhibits G1 through G 3 as
the electrically powered core drill which he cited, and stated
that the conditions depicted appeared to be the sane as those he
observed at the time of his inspection. The sw tchbox depicted
has only one main power control switch and it was not | ocked out
at the tine he observed it. He observed no warning signs
attached to the core drill, nor did he observe anything which
woul d I ead himto believe that mechanical work was being
performed on the drill (Tr. 8-12).

M. King identified Exhibit G4 as the working deck of the
drill rig showing the drill notor lead wire laying on the wet
deck and di sconnected fromthe notor. The wire was not connected
when he observed the rig and dinmax supervisor Ken Hack advi sed
himat that tinme that mechani cal work was being perforned on the
drill rig and that it was in the process of being repaired. M.
King stated that the wire would normal |y have been connected to
the nmotor, and upon observation, he determned that the wire



conduct or
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| eads were taped with what appeared to be one wap of plastic
electrician's tape, but the wire was not energized. The wire is
energi zed by throwing a switch on the drill itself, and the
switch is shown in Exhibits G2 and G3, and it is the switch
whi ch he determ ned was not | ocked out. The area where the dril
was | ocated was wet, with approximately a foot of water in the

i medi ate area of the drill. However, the drill rig itself had a
pl atform el evated i nches above the water, and the platformitself
was soaked, and portions of the drill were wet. The drill switch

also controlled the rig lights, and he observed no signs warni ng
enpl oyees not to turn the lights on or not to energize the

di sconnected wire. He observed no enpl oyees working in the

i Mmediate vicinity of the drill rig, but enployees were in

anot her area sone 500 to 600 feet away. The rig was located in a
drift which provided access to an escape rai se, and anyone coul d
venture into the area (Tr. 12-16).

M. King stated that it was his understanding that while the
drill rig was owned by Broyles Brothers, Cimax had a mai ntenance
crew who took care of electrical problenms. The drill notor was
di sconnected but he could not recall whether it was being taken
out or being put back in, and nore electrical work was certainly
required to make an electrical connection. He was not sure which
switch operated the wire | eads he observed, but he believed that
the main switch operated the rig lights. The drill switch could
not be | ocked out at the drill |ocation because he observed no
| ock-out attachnents in the area, and it would have to be | ocked
out at a disconnect switch |ocated 240 feet away. He identified
Exhibits G7 and G 8 as the disconnect sw tch, and when he
observed it he noted that the switch handle was in the ON
position and that the power cable | eaving the bottom of the
swi t chbox was not provided with a proper fitting or bushing, and
he saw none. Failure to provide such a bushing or fitting could
result in the cutting of the cable conductor insulation where it
exits the box and a hazard would result in that a phase conductor
could go to ground and energi ze the sw tchbox, thereby resulting
in an el ectrocution. He observed no one near the switchbox, but
anyone woul d have access to it, and the area was wet from
standi ng water and water fromthe roof (Tr. 16-21).

M. King identified Exhibits G5 and G6 as the power cable
| ocated at a splice point nmdway between the main di sconnect
switch and the drill rig, and the cable splice is shown hangi ng
on a nail. The area was wet, and if one were reaching for the
area next to the splice he would have his feet in the water. The
splice phase conductors were connected to each other and were
taped, and the ground conductor was intact and spliced with the
other two, but no effort had been nmade to replace the outer cable
jacket. The cable was energized at the tinme he observed it, and
the Iack of an outer jacket would dimnish the insulation
qualities of the cable and | essen the protecti on agai nst damage
to the wires. The splice which he observed would not afford
protection equal to that of the original cable, and it was nade
with a rubberized tape (Tr. 21-27).

M. King testified that the drill sw tchbox contained no



bushi ngs at the point where the cable entered the box, and the
i nsul ated wi re phase conductors
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sinmply canme out of the box at the opening and were not bushed.
Vibration fromthe drill rig could cause the cable insulation to
be cut and the phase current could ground and possi bly energize
t he switchbox, and any personnel, such as electricians or
mechani cs, woul d have occasion to operate the switch. He
identified the cable in question in Exhibit G3 as the one
entering the top of the box. The wire insulation was in place
around the conducting wire but the jacketed portion of the cable
protruded an inch and a half out of the box cable opening (Tr.
27-30).

M. King stated that he based his inmm nent danger order on
t he conbi ned conditions he observed. He believed that the cited
el ectrical violations, the sloppy electrical workmanship, coupled
with the wet conditions and the fact that no warning signs were
posted, constituted a "trap" and a place where one could
"reasonably and easily get killed or electrocuted” (Tr. 31).

On cross-exanm nation, M. King confirmed that the sw tchbox
at the drill rig had a "bad bushi ng” which was "not functional."
He stated the distinctions between a bushing and a fitting, and
stated that the forner was a fitting provided with sone type of
insulation quality, and that the latter was "just a connection
poi nt of something to fit around the sharp edge of the box." He
stated that Exhibit G6 (a fitting described by respondent's
counsel as a Chase Nipple), looked famliar to him but he could
not recall seeing such a device installed on the sw tchbox in
question (Tr. 39-40). He could not recall in detail how the |ead
wires on the cable he previously described were w apped, could
not recall the dielectric strength of the tape used, and he could
not recall whether any portions of the wire | eads were not taped
(Tr. 42). He confirmed that the switch on the box was in the OFF
position, and while power was coming into the box through the
cabl e, none was com ng out of or through the box. No one was
working in the area, the drill was down for maintenance, and the
nearest mners were |ocated sonme 500 to 600 feet down the drift.
He stated that if soneone had sinply wal ked up to the notor wres
and pi cked them up by hand not hi ng woul d have happened. Even if
the switchbox were in the ON position, he was still not sure what
woul d happen if a person had picked up one of the notor |ead
Wi res because he did not know whet her another switch was required
to be engaged in order to energize the wires (Tr. 42-46).

Wth regard to the cable entering the top of the dril
swi t chbox, Inspector King confirned that the outer cable
jacketing was missing for a distance of an inch and a half above
t he box. However, the phase conductors were insulated, and he did
not know their dielectric strength. Although the drill was shut
down at the tine, he still believed the defective cable fitting
or bushing contributed to the inmm nent danger because dril
vi bration would cause the cable to be cut and the defective
fitting did not provide adequate protection to prevent this
condition fromoccurring (Tr. 48). However, he conceded that the
wires did not appear to be cut, there was no drill vibration
present, and he was not sure when any cutting action would take
pl ace (Tr. 49).



Wth regard to the defective splice down the drift,
I nspector King stated that a danger woul d be presented if soneone
were to grab hold of the
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splice while standing in the wet water conditions which were
present. That person would act as a ground, but this would occur
only if the splice insulation were broken or danmaged or if there
were noi sture | eakage to the phase conductor through the tape
splice. Although the splice was taped with sone kind of a
rubberized tape, he did not know the dielectric strength of the

i nsul ation and did not know whet her anot her type of insulation
was present beneath the taped splice he observed, nor was he sure
whet her the type of cable in question was designated for use
under water (Tr. 51-52).

Regardi ng the mai n di sconnect sw tchbox and the |lack of a
bushing or fitting, Inspector King stated that the outer cable
jacket itself did extend into the box, but he could not recal
| ooking into the box. The cable jacket was not cut, and while
not hi ng coul d happen "at any nmonent," the situation was such that
it was possible that a cable conductor could contact the netal
framework of the box itself (Tr. 53). The lack of a fitting or
bushing on this box was not essential to his inmnent-danger
finding, but it still contributed to it, and even if the fitting
were on the cable, he would still have nmade an i mm nent - danger
finding. He also confirned that the "open splice" contributed to
the finding of inmmnent danger, but if the splice was nade
"jacket-to-jacket," and a proper bushing had been installed on
t he di sconnect sw tchbox, he would not have found an inm nent
danger. The essential condition which pronpted himto make an
i mm nent - danger finding was "the work practice conditions that
exi sted" (Tr. 55). Wen asked to describe the conditions that he
bel i eved exi sted and which could hurt anyone, he replied as
follows (Tr. 55):

The condition is that with the violations in the
contributing formin work practice that the standard
requires that that circuit be de-energi zed, the way |
| ooked at it back at the main disconnect switch, if you
had that area posted, if you had that condition where
they had no way to | ock that box out on the drill rig,

t hey shoul d have had a sign there and peopl e woul dn't
go in there and inadvertently turn that on

In describing the possibility of sonmeone being injured by
throwing the drill rig switch, Inspector King stated that he did
not know exactly where the source of electricity would cone from
and he stated that "it could have come from any of those
violations that were there"” (Tr. 56). He went on to explain that
while there was a "district probability" of someone being hurt,
"a variety of possibilities existed" (Tr. 56). He did not know
which of the drill rig switches were required to be activated to
energi ze the nmotor wires (Tr. 57). Wen asked the specifics of
what conditions were required to be present for a hazard to
exist, aside froma faulty switch and fitting, he stated "if the
conditions were right,” and when asked to clarify that answer, he
stated that other than the violations he cited, he could not
describe the alleged "conditions" he had in mnd (Tr. 59).

Regarding the drill rig switchbox violation, M. King stated



that the power wires thenselves were insulated, and therefore the
first sentence of the
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standard was not violated. Since the wires were not a "cable" at
t he point where they entered the box opening, the second sentence
of the standard was not violated. However, since the wires did
not pass through a substantial bushing where it passed through
the nmetal box frame, that part of the standard was vi ol at ed.
Even t hough a Chase N pple may have been used, it is not
insulated at all and it is not an insulated bushing (Tr. 60).
However, had the cable jacket itself, rather than the insul ated
wi res, passed through the Chase N pple, conpliance would have
been achi eved and there would be no violation (Tr. 60).

Regardi ng the mai n di sconnect switch violation of section
57.12-8, the second part of the standard dealing with the
requi renent that cables pass through proper fittings was the part
violated (Tr. 61). Regarding the failure to | ock out the dril

rig swwtch, while the drill itself was deenergized, it was not
| ocked out. Even though the switch was OFF, it was still not
| ocked out, and that is a violation (Tr. 62). He was present
when I nspector Enderby cited the lack of guards on the drill rig

lights, and the lights were off because the power was off, and

t he box was | ocked out due to the issuance of his order (Tr. 63).
He conceded that his testinony in his prior deposition that the
lights were on was in error (Tr. 63).

In response to further questions, M King confirmed that
while the power to the drill switch itself was on, the dril
not or was deenergi zed because the rig was down for maintenance
(Tr. 64). However, he was not sure which switches had to be
activated to energize the nmotor, and he saw no i ndependent |i ght
switch (Tr. 64). The purpose of the bushing at the place where
the cable entered the drill swi tchbox was to keep the cable in
pl ace and to elimnate any cutting due to vibration (Tr. 73). He
did not determ ne whether the switch had a "neutral™ position
but the switch was definitely OFF (Tr. 75).

In response to bench questions, M. King conceded that the

drill rig was down for repairs when he nmade his inspection and
that he was aware of this fact. He began his inspection at the
drill rig site, and worked his way back down the drift to the

| ocation of the other conditions he cited, and respondent's

el ectrical foreman, Kenneth Hack, and others acconpani ed hi m
during the inspection. M. Hack is a certified electrician, but
he did not consult himbefore issuing the order, and he stated he
"pretty well made up nmy mind* (Tr. 81). VWile the drill rig
itself could not be [ocked out, it could have been | ocked out
down the drift at the main disconnect switch, or the area could
have posted (Tr. 82). The power was deenergized fromthe dril
swi tchbox to the drill nmotor (Tr. 82). Power al ong the 440-volt
cable and up to the drill rig box was "hot," but the box and
notor were not (Tr. 88).

dimax's Testinony and Evi dence
Kennet h Hack testified that he has been enployed with dinax

as an electrical foreman, and that he is a 1971 graduate of
Col orado State University with a B.S. degree in electrica



engineering. At the time the
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citations in question issued, he was supervisor for electrica

mai nt enance and construction at the 600, 629, and 929 m ne
production levels. He stated that he was not with M. King when
his citations issued on Decenber 12, but he went to the scene the
next day and took the photographs, Exhibits G1 through G8 (Tr
136-139).

M. Hack identified Exhibits CG1 and C-2 as schematic
drawi ngs depicting the circuits and current path to the drill rig
and di sconnect swi tches which were cited by Inspector King, and
he expl ained the path of current, the function of the di sconnect
switch and circuit breakers used in the system the groundi ng
systens, and he identified Exhibit CG7 as a 2/0 conductor cable
simlar to the one cited by M. King for a bad splice (Tr.
168-171). He stated that if soneone were to step into the splice
area shown in photographic Exhibits G5 and G 6 and grabbed the
splice, nothing would happen (Tr. 172). He also indicated that
he is famliar with the manner in which the splice in question
was made through routine supervision of electricians who
routi nely nmake such splices at the dimax Mne. He described the
met hod by which such splices are nade, and indicated they are
pl aced butt-to-butt with Ckonite 35 tape, then wapped with
Scotch 88 tape in an overlapping fashion simlar to that of a
tennis racket handle, and he identified Exhibit C 11 as the
vendor's specifications for Okonite, as well as Exhibits G 3
through G5 as Scotch 88 electrical tape, Okonite No. 35 cable
jacketing tape, and Scotchfill electric insulation putty, the
products used in the making of the splice in question (Tr.
173-177).

M. Hack indicated that had the splice in question fallen
of f the spike where it was hanging, and it was skillfully made by
an electrician, it would have been inpervious to water. However,
if water |eaked into the splice, a short circuit would have
devel oped and resulted in the main circuit breaker tripping,

t hereby deenergizing the line (Tr. 177). The circuit breaker
would trip in about "one to 240th of a second" (Tr. 178). He
could not explain why the splice was hanging on the nail. Wth
regard to the nmethod used to nmake the splice in question, he
stated that when he first becane enployed with dimax he

guesti oned the manner in which such splices were nade, and he
expl ai ned that the splice was |eft "open" so that water could not
accunulate in it and to permt visual inspection of the interior
conductors. Also, during the war, dinmax could not obtain
insulating material and they found that the "open"-type splice
was nore reliable (Tr. 179). Had the splice fallen in the water,
the breaker would trip and there would be no voltage on the dril
rig (Tr. 180).

Wth respect to the cable entering the main di sconnect
swi tchbox, M. Hack stated that the cable jacketing extended sone
2 inches into the box, and fromthat point on there is an
additional 6 inches on insulated conductor wires before it is
connected to the disconnect inside in the box (Tr. 181). He
observed no cutting of the cable that extended into the box, and
if all of the conductors were pulled out of the box, there would



be no shock hazard on the rig because the cable would be
deenergi zed and there would be no voltage to the drill rig (Tr.
182).
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Regarding the drill rig switch breaker box, M. Hack indicated
that an electrical bushing or fitting was installed at the top of
the box and he identified it as a "Chase N pple" (Exh. CG6). The
device has a |l ock nut and a bushing and the terns "bushing" and
"fitting" are used interchangeably, and when he exam ned it it
"seened acceptable” (Tr. 184). The 2/0 power cable jacketing
entering the box through the Chase N pple was flush with and to
the bottom depth of the nipple and he observed no power conduct or
vi si bl e above the nipple and box, and it was that way when he
observed it on the norning of the 12th before the condition was
abated (Tr. 185). M. Hack stated that the breaker box contains
an "on-of f" push button which controls a starter for the dril
rig motor, and that is a separate switch in addition to the
"on-of f" switch for the box circuit breaker itself (Tr. 189). The
circuit breaker switch is for notor overcurrent protection and it
is always on when drilling is taken place (Tr. 189).

M. Hack stated that in order to obtain electricity and
voltage to the drill notor |l eg area where the taped wires which
were |lying on the deck were | ocated, one would have to push the
switch breaker on and then push the start button for the notor.
Assumi ng one were to pick up the taped wires with both sw tches
on, he would be in no danger and he described the nmethod used for

tapi ng such leads (Tr. 191-192). |If one were to turn the breaker
switch "on" and plug in the lights, he would be in no danger, and
he knew of no conditions in or around the drill rig platform or

240 feet down the drift, on the day in question which presented
any danger to anyone (Tr. 195). He did not dispute the fact that
the systemwas not | ocked out when M. King issued his order (Tr.
195).

On cross-exam nation, M. Hack confirmed that he first
observed the wel di ng machine splice on July 14, 1980, sone 2
years after the citation issued, and it was kept at the mne in
his office (Tr. 205). He had no firsthand know edge of the
condition of the splice at the tine it was cited, and he nmade no
attenpt to open the splice hinself, but an electrician did and he
(Hack) found that it was adequately nmade (Tr. 206-207). He
descri bed the manner in which the splice was made, did not know
t he thickness of the jacket, how many tape w aps were used, and
conceded that it was not of the sanme mechanical strength of the
cable insulation or the splice. No splice offers as nmuch
protection as the original cable because anytinme the cable is
broken, its integrity is destroyed, and while the splice may not
be equal to the original, it was adequate for the application for
which it was being used (Tr. 210-216).

M. Hack expressed sonme fanmiliarity with the process of
usi ng vul cani zati on for maki ng permanent splices, but has never
personal ly used this process. |If done properly, he assuned the
splice which results would be equal to the existing cable, and he
conceded that it is a better nmethod for making splices, and al so
conceded that he questioned the "open-splice" nethod used by
dimax when he first came to work at the mne (Tr. 217-218), and
he questioned the | ack of a jacket-to-jacket cover for mechanica
protection (Tr. 219). M. Hack also indicated that the



circuit-breaking systemfor the drill rig is engineered to

provi de protection for the machinery, and if one were to touch a
live wire on the rig which was not fixed to trip the breaker at
the proper cut-off anperage, there is a possibility of an

el ectrocution (Tr. 227).
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Regardi ng the "open splice," M. Hack conceded that the splice
was not as nechanically strong as the original, was not nmade as
nearly as possible as strong as the original cable, and since it
had no outer jacket, it did not offer damage protection nearly as
possible to the original (Tr. 227). Electricians at the d i max
M ne routinely splice cables in the nanner he previously
descri bed, but he personally has attended no training sessions at
the mne for this purpose, and has only learned that this is the
normal procedure through "firsthand conversations” (Tr. 231). He
woul d have no hesitation in grabbing the open splice in question
but if there is moisture init, that would possibly affect his
willingness to touch it because it would be a defective splice
and woul d possibly be electrocuted (Tr. 232-233). He would
accept no amount of noisture in a splice if he were standing in
water, but he would be safe with .12 percent water in a splice
(Tr. 235). However, he did not know the anbunt of water
absorption tolerance for the splice in question (Tr. 239).

Wth respect to the main disconnect sw tchbox down the
drift, M. Hack conceded that the sw tchbox cited by Inspector
King did not have any kind of a bushing or fitting when he
observed it (Tr. 249). |In response to additional questions, M.
Hack stated that the cable (Exh. G7), has a MESA approval but he
did not believe it was conpletely inpervious to noisture (Tr.
250). The splicing nmethod used for cables would render them
nmechani cally strong, the electrical conductivity would be as near
as possible to the original, and no splice is 100 percent as good
as the original cable (Tr. 251). Mulcanization is not used at
the dimax M ne because it is not practical because of the great
nunber of cables spliced with "T-Taps,"” and they coul d not
operate underground if each splice had to be vul canized (Tr.

251). The splicing nethod used at the mne takes 45 minutes to
make a splice, while the use of vul canization underground woul d
take 4 or 5 hours to make a splice (Tr. 252). dimx has MSHA' s
approval to use "T-Taps" in its production drifts (Tr. 253).

Al t hough the open splice hanging on the nail was nmechanically
strong, the electrical conductivity was as near as possible to
the original, and was seal ed to exclude noisture, it did not have
damage protection as near as possible to the original because the
outer jacket did not extend across the splice (Tr. 254).

However, by hangi ng on the spi ke and being wapped in tape, he
bel i eved damage protection was afforded (Tr. 255).

In response to bench questions, M. Hack stated that the
subj ect of how Cinmax nmakes its splices in the mne has been a
topi c of discussion with MSHA inspectors, and aside fromthe
"T-Taps" splices, nothing concrete has resulted with respect to
the other type splices, and MSHA has issued O imax no guidelines
as to the types of cable-splicing kits it would accept as
conpliance (Tr. 266).

On Decenber 12, 1978, MSHA inspector James G Enderby issued
section 104(a) Citation No. 333657, charging a violation of 30
C.F.R 0[057.12-13, and the condition or practice cited states as
follows: "A bad splice was observed on the 440 volt power supply
cable to the Chentron wel der on south and outside storke shop



The wel der was being used at the tinme. A Tic Tracer was used to
find this condition."
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On Decenber 13, 1978, Inspector Enderby issued section
104(a) G tation No. 333658, charging a violation of 30 CF. R 0O
57.12-34, and the condition or practice cited states as foll ows:

"The portable flood Iights around the Boyles Brothers drill rig
at 9 IVL East 929 | evel were not guarded. The |ight bul bs could
easily be reached while standing on drill rig platform"

MSHA' s Testi nony and Evi dence

MSHA i nspector James G Enderby testified has he has been
enpl oyed as an inspector for 5 years. He previously wirked as a
m ner, and has taken MSHA courses in electricity at Beckley, West
Virginia. He confirmed that he inspected the blacksmth's shop
on the mne surface on Decenber 12, 1978, and that he issued the
citations in question. The portable welder splice citation was
i ssued after he observed that a section of the cable had been
spliced and that the plastic tape was torn and deterioriated from
bei ng dragged around the shop. The splice was about a foot | ong,
and it supplied 440 volts of power to the welder. He used a "Tic
Tracer" instrunent to test the cable, and he described the Tic
Tracer (Exh. CG-9) as a battery-powered device which detects
current by emitting a "chattering noise" through a speaker device
on the instrument. As cable current gets stronger, the sound
gets louder. By noving the instrunent al ong the cable, the sound
becanme | ouder at the location of the splice and this indicated to
himthat the splice was not as good as the initial insulation
when the cable was originally installed (Tr. 91-94).

M. Enderby stated that the welder was in use at the tine he
observed the splice condition, he noticed no noisture in the
area, and the person operating the welder was | ocated sone 10
feet fromthe splice (Tr. 96). He performed no other tests on
the splice and he described it as a jacket-to-jacket splice. He
was concerned over the fact that continued use of the cable would
lead to further deterioration and it would not be in the sane
condition or as strong as the original manufactured cable. He
was concerned that soneone coul d be el ectrocuted or shocked if
they came in contact with it (Tr. 96). He did not believe the
splice was equal to that of the original and that is why he cited
section 57.12-13 (Tr. 97).

Regarding the drill rig lights citation, M. Enderby
identified Exhibits G1 and G 2 as photographs of the lights in
guestion and stated that there were four or five unguarded |ights
on the drill rig. |If a man were standing on the drill rig
platformin the picture identified as Exhibit G2, the Iight
would be in his face. It was possible that the lights could have
been broken by a steel drill used during drilling, and if a
person comes in contact with the broken filanents, there would be
a potential shock hazard present (Tr. 100). The lighting circuit
was not energi zed, and he saw no evidence that the |lights were
ever guarded prior to his inspection (Tr. 101-102).

On cross-exam nation, M. Enderby stated that in order to
reach the unguarded |lights, the person depicted in Exhibit G1
(M. Hack), would be able to reach the lights with a bar, but



woul d have to jamit into the socket in order to be shocked.
Normal Iy, he would be unable to sinmply reach up and in with his
hand, but with a little effort he may (Tr. 103). He confirned
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that the Iights were not energized, and while he believed that a
shock hazard existed prior to the issuance of M. King' s order
he conceded that no hazard was present on Decenber 13 when his
citation issued (Tr. 104).

Wth regard to the splice on the wel der cable, M. Enderby
confirmed that it was |ocated between the man doi ng the work and
t he wel di ng machi ne, and he could not recall whether the cable
was AC or DC. He confirned that when he gave his prior
deposition, he indicated at that tine that he used the Tic Tracer
instrument to determ ne whether the cable was a main power supply
cable or a ground. In addition, he has been trained to use the
tic tracer to determi ne | eakage in a cable and if the tracer
noi se increases it indicates to hima change of nore current or
vol t age bei ng exposed to the instrument. He also confirmed that
the tracer is used to neasure current. Regarding the condition
of the splice, he stated that the torn and worn part of the
splice appeared to be taped, that no power conductors were
visible, and he did not know whether the cable had a ground wire.
Even if the Tic Tracer had not indicated an increase in noise, he
still would have probably issued the citation. Although the
splice was nechanically strong, it was not insulated to a degree
at least equal to the original, and he doubted that it was seal ed
to exclude noisture, and did not believe it was provided with
damage protection as near as possible to that of the origina
cable (Tr. 106-109).

M. Enderby testified that the splice was not sealed to
excl ude noi sture because the tape was torn, deteriorated, and was
cracked and coming off. He did not know what was bel ow the outer
tape and believed that "Scotch Fill" is a type of insulating
material used in splices (Tr. 109). He could not specifically
recal | making any inquiries of anyone fromdimx as to the
splice and how it was made (Tr. 113). He stated that he would
have issued a citation even if the Tic Tracer were not used and
he woul d have done so because of the deterioration of the tape
wr apped around the splice (Tr. 111).

In response to bench questions, M. Enderby stated that the
splice in question was a permanent splice, that the cable was
some 50 feet long, and was used to power the portable welder (Tr.
114). An increase in noise fromthe Tic Tracer indicated to him
that the splice was |eaking current and was not being protected
or insulated to the sane degree as manufactured. He was
concer ned that soneone picking up the cable would be
el ectrocuted, but he did not examine the splice after it was cut
out of the cable, and he was not famliar with the manner in
whi ch splices are nade at the mne (Tr. 117-118).

In response to further questions, M. Enderby stated that he
was not certain that electrical |eakage detected by a Tic Tracer
is an indication of dimnished insulation quality fromthe power
cable to the splice, but in "office conversation,” he was told
that any increase in the volune of the sound emtted by that
i nstrunment indicates "some sort of |eakage" (Tr. 124). He did
not remenber that the manufacturer’'s instructions concerning the



use of a Tic Tracer instrunent state that its purpose is to
detect splice |leakage (Tr. 124). Regarding the unguarded lights,
M. Enderby stated that four or five bul bs were not guarded, that
a man would likely stand by the drill at one location on the
backside of the drill, that on simlar rigs the lights are
usual | y guarded by a cage or screen attachnment, and the | ocation
of the lights is a factor in determ ning whether guards are
required (Tr. 121-122).
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dimax's Testinony and Evi dence

Regardi ng the wel ding cable splice citation, M. Hack stated
that he was fanmliar with the splice in question and descri bed

how it was made. It was a butt-to-butt splice nmade with Scotch
88 electrician's black tape. The wire terminals were built up
with Scotch Fill, an electrical putty used to maintain cable

asymmetry. The sequence for making the splice is to use the tape
and putty over the power conductors, and the Scotch 88 is then
used jacket-to-jacket, thereby replacing the original cable
jacketing (Tr. 139). The torn and deteriorated condition of the
outer tape as described by M. Enderby is normal because the
outer taping on the cable is deliberately heavily taped and built
up so as to absorb any cabl e abuse (Tr. 140).

M. Hack identified the manufacturer's specifications for
the tape and scotch fill (Exhs. C 10 and C 12) and stated that
they are regularly used in his work in the electrical departnment
(Tr. 140). He confirned that no tests were conducted on the
splice, that he relied on the manufacturer's representations as
shown in the specifications, and he had no know edge of any field
tests conducted by the manufacturer concerning the products in
gquestion in his electrical wrk and had no reason to question the
manuf acturer's representations (Tr. 157). He exam ned the
particul ar splice which was cited and found it to be nmade in the
manner he previously described (Tr. 160). The cable portion
bet ween the wel di ng machi ne and the nman using it was DC and the
other cable portion was AC. A Tic Tracer is primarily used to
detect interior breaks or loss of voltage in trailing cable
conductors which are not readily visible (Tr. 161). As an
exanple, if a piece of equipnent ran over a cable, the Tic Tracer
could be used to detect a possible damaged open conductor within
the cable which is not visible, and a break in a conductor could
possibly indicate that the interior insulation of the conductor
was damaged (Tr. 162-163). DC current cannot be neasured by a
Tic Tracer (Tr. 163). The floor in the nmachi ne shop where the
wel der was located is a concrete floor and is not normally wet.
He believed the splice was acceptable in terns of being
mechanically strong (Tr. 164). He was not present when the
splice was cited (Tr. 164), but based on his exam nation of the
splice after it was renoved, he believed it was as good as the
original and the basis for this opinion is his experience with
the use of the products for making such a splice (Tr. 165).

Regardi ng the unguarded lights citation, M. Hack stated
that the Iight depicted in Exhibit G1 is approximately 10 feet
off the drill rig deck and sonme 12 feet off the floor, and the
other two lights are about 12 feet off the floor (Tr. 167-168).

MBHA' s Rebuttal Wtness

Paul Price, electrical engineer, MSHA's Denver Technica
Support Center, testified that he holds a 1965 B.S. degree in
el ectrical engineering, and that his past experience includes the
design of surface and underground |ighting and power-distribution
systens, cabl e-splicing nethods, grounding systens, and he hel ped



devel op the el ectrical tape manufactured by the 3M Conpany (Tr.
273-276) .



~2989

M. Price stated that he was present during the testinony
presented in these proceedi ngs, and upon exam nation of
phot ogr aphi ¢ Exhibit G4 concerning the taped drill rig notor
wires, he stated that based on the manner in which those wires
appeared to be taped, they were exposed to the possibility of
bei ng punctured with a screw or nail, and since the power was not
| ocked out, anyone turning on the breaker on the box and then
activating the start button would be in danger. Aside from any
possi bl e punctures, he believed that the use of tape is a "l ast
ditch" effort and he would not care to touch a "hot" taped wire.
Based on the testinony he heard, the drill rig was not | ocked out
because the box had no | ock hasp and it therefore should have
been | ocked out down the drift at the feed line (Tr. 279-280).

Upon vi ewi ng phot ographic Exhibit G5 concerning the "open
splice"” down the drift, M. Price testified that he did not
consider it to be a safe splice because there was no outer jacket
bondi ng across the spliced wires. The lack of such an outer
jacket violated the standard cited because the standard
specifically requires an outer bonded jacket, and that jacket
provi des additional insulation and protection agai nst danmage and
abrasions. Failure to provide such a jacket renders the spliced
cable less than equal to the original. The lack of a jacket
woul d al so not afford at |east equal protection against noisture.
The cable in question is an MSHA-approved cable, and if it is
undamaged it should not have any water in it since it is approved
for use under water and .12 percent of water in a cable could
only be detected under |aboratory conditions (Tr. 281-285).

M. Price stated that the splice depicted in Exhibit G5
presented a hazard to any miner touching it, and coupled with the
water conditions in the area, if the cable were reachable, and if
someone touched it, an inmm nent danger woul d be presented. He
woul d not touch it even under dry conditions because to the
untrai ned eye the cable may have sonme damage which is not readily

detectable. |In response to a question as to whether the spliced
cabl e presented an i nm nent danger sinply because it had no outer
bonded jacket, M. Price answered as follows: "If perhaps |I had

done it nyself and knew there was no damage, if it had not been
hangi ng out in that |ocation for any period of tine, if it were
under | aboratory conditions, I wouldn't mnd touching it" (Tr.
292).

Regarding the cable citation at the point where it entered
the drill switchbox (Exh. G3), M. Price testified that at the
poi nt where the cable enters the box a clanmp fitting providing
for strain relief should have been installed. Since the
i nspector testified that the cable jacket was out of the fitting,
a proper clanp-type fitting would have prevented this. By
allowi ng the cable to nove up and down out of the box, there was
a danger that the phase conductor woul d have been di sconnected
fromits normal contact point inside the box, thereby energizing
the box frane or the frane of the machine. A "Chase N pple" is
not a clanp-type fitting, and it was originally designed for use
in protecting cables which are installed in conduits, and it is
totally inadequate for use in conjunction with a cable or single



insulated wires which enter a switchbox such as the one in
question (Tr. 289-290). Assuming the cable did not extend into
t he box and the
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wires were stripped above the point where they enter the box,
those wires are no | onger considered a "cable,” but rather
"power wires," and permtting themto enter the box wthout a
fitting is a poor wiring practice (Tr. 290).

M. Price stated that the term"fitting” is a generic term
covering basically all fittings. A "bushing" is a particular
type of fitting which may or may not be insulated. Under section
57.12-8, insulated wires and power cables are treated
differently. A cable entering a machine or a box should be
provided with a relief-type or clanp-type fitting that would hold
it securely in place to prevent it fromslipping up and down
inside the box. |If this is not provided, the cable may slip up
and down enough to dislodge the connector connections inside the
box thereby causing a short (Tr. 286). Viewing Exhibit G7, a
phot ograph of the sw tchbox 240 down the drift, M. Price stated
that it should have a clamp-type fitting to secure the cable, and
there is no proper fitting at all installed on that box (Tr.

287). However, the cable itself appears to be adequately
i nsulated (Tr. 288).

In the interest of tine, the parties stipulated by way of a
proffer by MSHA' s counsel, that M. Price would also testify that
the use of a Tic Tracer adequately and accurately indicates
whet her a splice is insulated to the degree of the origina
cable, that the placenent of the unguarded |ights at the
| ocations shown in Exhibits G1 through G 3 presented a shock and
burn hazard to nen in the area should they or their equi pnent
cone into contact with the wiring inside the lights, and that the
splice on the cited wel ding machine did not comply with the
standard because the sane danger and insulation protection as the
original was not provided (Tr. 293-294).

On cross-exam nation, M. Price stated that rather than
taping the wires on the drill motor, he would | eave them bare,
but only if the machine was | ocked out. He conceded that anyone
unl ocki ng the box, pushing the starter, and then picking up the
bare wires, would be electrocuted, but that would be a renote set
of circunstances. It would also be equally renote for someone to
push the starter button, and pick up taped wires and be hurt (Tr.
294-295). He stated that he had never visited the dinmax Mne or
any | arge underground nol ybdenum nmine (Tr. 295). He al so
i ndi cated that any cable has an absorption rate and none are 100
percent inpervious (Tr. 296), and that under certain conditions,
a Chase Nipple is a proper fitting (Tr. 297).

M. Price identified a PST system of cable splicing as a kit
manuf actured by the 3M Conpany whi ch provi des jacket-to-jacket
protection and is approved by the Bureau of M nes. He descri bed
the method of splicing with such a kit, and indicated that it is
extremely simlar to the nethod described by M. Hack with
respect to the wel ding nachine cable up to the point of the outer
jacket. The kit is provided with a neoprene tube and spring to
hold it in place over the splice after the scotch fill and taping
is done, and the splice is then vul canized by a chem cal process
whi ch bonds to the tube to the outer cable jacket. This



procedure does not require a vul cani zi ng machi ne and woul d not
take as long as taping (Tr. 300).
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In response to a question fromme as to whether the cited
standard concerning splices would be clearer if the standard
specifically required the use of Bureau of M nes approved
splicing nethods for making splices, M. Price answered "I don't
thing we would be here"” (Tr. 302). Wen asked why this had not
been done, he answered "Non-el ectrical people make the standards”
(Tr. 302).

Cimax's Challenge to the Authority of the Inspectors

In its posthearing brief at pages 25-26, dimax asserts that
MSHA has failed to establish that Inspectors King and Ender by
were "authorized representatives of the Secretary” within the
meani ng of the Act. |In support of this assertion, Cdinax argues
that MSHA has failed to establish that the inspectors who
conducted the inspection and issued the citations and w t hdr awnal
order were in fact acting in their capacity as authorized
representatives of the Secretary of Labor, and that there is
nothing in the Act which designates enpl oyees of MSHA as
aut hori zed representatives of the Secretary. This assertion and
defense is rejected. | amsatisfied fromthe inspectors
testinmony that they are duly authorized representatives of the
Secretary, that they are qualified and conpetent to conduct m ne
i nspections, that they did so at all tinmes pertinent to these
cases, that m ne nanagenent was aware of the fact that M. King
and M. Enderby were in fact MSHA i nspectors, and that the
i nspections were conducted in accord with the provisions of the
Act .

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Docket No. DENV 79-196-M

The issue presented in this contest is whether or not the
conditions or practices cited by Inspector King in the section
107(a) inmm nent danger Order No. 331891, Decenber 11, 1978, in
fact constituted an i mm nent danger w thin the meaning of the
Act. "lmm nent danger"” is defined in section 3(j) of the Act, 30
U S.C. 0802(j) as: "The existence of any condition or practice
in a coal or other mne which could reasonably be expected to
cause death or serious physical harm before such condition or
practice can be abated.”

The legislative history with respect to the concept of
"imm nent danger," Comm ttee on Education and Labor, House of
Representatives, Legislative History of the Federal Coal M ne
Heal th and Safety Act of 1969 at page 44 (March 1970), states, in
pertinent part, as follows:

The definition of an "inmm nent danger"” is broadened
fromthat in the 1952 Act in recognition of the need to
be concerned with any condition or practice, naturally
or otherw se caused, which may | ead to sudden death or
injury before the danger can be abated. It is not
l[imted to just disastrous type accidents, as in the
past, but all accidents which could be fatal or



nonfatal to one or nore persons before abatenent of the
condition or practice can be achieved.
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And, at page 89 of the report:

The concept of an inm nent danger as it has evolved in
this industry is that the situation is so serious that
the m ners nust be renmoved fromthe danger forthw th
when the danger is discovered * * *. The seriousness
of the situation demands such i nmedi ate action. The
first concern is the danger to the mner. Delays, even
of a fewmnutes may be critical or disastrous.

The former Interior Board of Mne Operations Appeal s has
hel d that an inmm nent danger exists when the condition or
practice observed coul d reasonably be expected to cause death or
serious physical harmto a mner or normal mning operations are
permtted to proceed in the area before the dangerous condition
is elimnated. The dangerous condition cannot be divorced from
normal work activity. Eastern Associated Coal Corporation v.
Interior Board of Mne Operations Appeals, et al., 491 F.2d 277,
278 (4th Gr. 1974). The test of immnence is objective and the
i nspector's subjective opinion need not be taken at face val ue.
The question is whether a reasonable man, with the inspector's
education and experience, would conclude that the facts indicate
an i npendi ng accident or disaster, likely to occur at any noment,
but not necessarily imedi ately. Freeman Coal M ning
Corporation, 2 IBVMA 197, 212 (1973), aff'd., Freeman Coal M ning
Conmpany v. Interior Board of Mne Qperations Appeals, et al., 504
F.2d 741 (7th Gr. 1974). The foregoing principles were
reaffirmed in Ad Ben Coal Corporation v. Interior Board of M ne
Qperations Appeals, et al., 523 F.2d 25 (7th G r. 1975), where
the court, follow ng Freeman, phrased the test for deternining an
i mm nent danger as follows:

Each case nust be decided on its own peculiar facts.
The question in every case is essentially the proxinmty
of the peril to life and Iinb. Put another way: Wuld
a reasonable man, given a qualified inspector's
education and experience, conclude that the facts
i ndi cate an i npendi ng acci dent or disaster, threatening
to kill or to cause serious physical harm likely to
occur at any nonent, but not necessary i medi ately?
The uncertainty nust be of a nature that would induce a
reasonable man to estimate that, if normal operations
designed to extract coal in the disputed area
proceeded, it is at |east just as probable as not that
the feared accident or disaster would occur before
elimnation of the danger

In a proceedi ng concerni ng an i mm nent -danger order, the
burden of proof lies with the contestant, and the contestant nust
show by a preponderance of the evidence that an inmm nent danger
did not exist. Lucas Coal Conpany, 1 IBMA 138 (1972); Carbon
Fuel Conpany, 2 IBMA 43 (1973); Freenman Coal M ning Corporation
2 IBVA 197 (1973). However, since withdrawal orders are
"sanctions"” within the nmeaning of section 7(d) of the
Admi ni strative Procedure Act (5 U S.C 0O556(d) (1970)), and may
be i nmposed only if the Government produces reliable, probative



and substantial evidence which establishes a prinma facie case,
MSHA nust bear the burden of establishing a prima facie case. It
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shoul d be noted that the obligation of establishing a prima facie
case is not the same as bearing the burden of proof. That is,

al t hough the applicant bears the ultimte burden of proof in a
proceedi ng i nvol ving an i mr nent -danger w t hdrawal order, NMSHA
must still make out a prima facie case. Thus, the order is
properly vacated where the applicant proves by a preponderance of
t he evidence that an i nm nent danger was not present when the
order was issued. See Lucas Coal Conpany, supra; Carbon Fue
Conpany, 2 IBMA 43 (1973); Freeman Coal M ning Corporation

supra; Zeigler Coal Conpany, 4 IBVA 88, 82 |I.D. 111 (1975);
Quarto M ning Conpany and Nacco M ning Conpany, 3 IBMA 199, 81
|.D. 328 (1973-1975); Kings Station Coal Corporation, 3 |IBMA 322,
81 I.D. 562 (1974).

The Seventh Circuit also noted inits Ad Ben opinion that
an inspector has a very difficult job because he is primrily
concerned about the safety of nen, and the court indicated that
an inspector should be supported unless he has clearly abused his
di scretion (523 F.2d at 31). On the facts presented in A d Ben
the court observed that an inspector cannot wait until the danger
is so imediate that no one can remain in the mne to correct the
condition, nor can the inspector wait until an explosion or fire
has occurred before issuing a withdrawal order (523 F.2d at 34).
Thus, on the facts presented in the instant proceedi ng, MSHA nust
show t hat reasonable men with the inspector's education and
experi ence woul d conclude that the conditions cited by |Inspector
King constituted a situation indicating an inpending accident or
di saster, likely to occur at any nonent, but not necessarily
i medi at el y.

MSHA' s theory seens to be that an inmm nent danger existed
soneti ne before Inspector King' s inspection, and its counse
candidly admitted this at the conclusion of the hearing when he
stated "[t]here was an inm nent danger there sonetimnme before the
i nspection” (Tr. 256). 1In addition, | take note of the fact that
on direct testinmony by Inspector King to support his
i mm nent - danger order, after MSHA' s counsel had conpleted his
guesti oni ng concerning the conditions observed, M. King said not
one word about any inm nent danger. The question was put to him
after I inquired of counsel as follows (Tr. 30):

MR, BARKLEY: Your Honor, that concludes ny questioning
of this w tness.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: You're not going to ask himthe $64, 000
guestion?

MR. BARKLEY: I would if | knew what it was.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: How did he cone to the concl usion that
all these conditions constituted an inmm nent danger?

Gentl emren, we're not playing ganmes in this proceedi ng
and | have a responsibility to make a record, and if Counse
doesn't ask a critical question, 1"'mgoing to ask it. |
assune that's why you sighed, M. Bastien?
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I nspector King then went on the explain his rationale for issuing
t he i mm nent - danger order as follows (Tr. 31):

Q M. King, did you draw a conclusion at the time of
your inspection as to whether or not any or all of the
conditions that we tal ked about presented an i nm nent
danger ?

A Yes, | did.
Q On what facts did you base that concl usion?

A. | based it on the observations | had nmade at the
time of the inspection when | entered the 9 IVL Drift.
| based it on the fact that excessive water was in the
area, multiple electrical violations | had discussed in
nmy testinmony, the fact that there were no warni ng
signs, there was nothing to tell anybody that there was
danger in there. | perceived this as a trap, a place
that you coul d reasonably and easily get killed,
el ectrocut ed.

The power cable, the main feed cabl e was under water
in sone cases around the drill rig, there was evidence of
sl oppy worknenship in the insulation of the electrica
equi prent, the cabl es not being bushed or havi ng proper
fittings, the bad splice, the power to the drill rig.
That's basically what | based it on

Al t hough I nspector King testified as to sone arcing inside
the drill sw tchbox, and included this observation on his
i nspector's statenment in support of the order, the fact is that
he did not observe such a condition when he issued the order, was
unaware of any |oose lug inside the box, and inserted the comrent
concerning arcing in his inspector's statenent on Decenber 15,
after abatenent had been achieved and after the order had been
term nated, and MSHA counsel candidly adnmtted that any arcing
condition had nothing to do with the inm nent-danger order (Tr.
261). Although the record is somewhat unclear as to the anount
of arcing, the fact is that based on the testi nony of M. Hack
it is clear to ne that any prior arcing was not an inmnently
dangerous situation, and it had been corrected, and MSHA s
attenpts to amend the condition cited by the inspector or to add
to those conditions 2 years after the fact on the basis of any
specul ative testinony generated at the hearing was sunmarily
denied (Tr. 262-263).

It is clear fromthe testinony and evidence adduced in this
case that at the tinme Inspector King issued his immnent-danger
order, the drill rig in question was shut down, the drill notor
had been renoved and was down for maintenance, no drilling or
m ni ng was taking place, and the only enpl oyees renptely close to
the area were nminers who were working in another section some 500
to 600 feet away. In addition, the drill motor junction box was
di sconnected, the activating switches were not on, and the dril
was down for repairs. Wth respect to the inadequate splice sone



180 feet fromthe rig,
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while it may not have contai ned a jacket-to-jacket outer bonding
to render it as nechanically strong as the original cable, M.
Hack indicated that electricians at the mne routinely splice
cables in this manner, and the cable itself is an MSHA-approved
cable which is approved for underwater use. Aside fromthe fact
that he believed the |ack of an outer jacket dimnished the

i nsul ati on and physical protective qualifies of the splice,

I nspect or King conceded that the splice-phase conductors were
connected and taped, and that the ground conductor was intact and
spliced with the conductors. Further, the splice was hung up on a
nail and was sonewhat isolated by a ditch of water (Exh. G 6).
VWile M. King' s concern was over the fact that sonmeone standi ng
in the water and grabbing the splice would be in danger, he
conceded that this would be true if the insulation were damaged
or there was noisture | eakage through the taped conductors.
However, he had no know edge of the insulation qualities of the
tape in question, was not aware of the fact that the cable was
MSHA approved for use under water, and he did not rebut the fact
that the splice was in otherw se good condition

After careful review and consideration of all of the
foregoi ng circunstances which | believe prevailed at the time M.

King issued his order, I amnot convinced that the conditions
cited, taken collectively or singularly, presented any i mr nent
danger. It seens clear to ne that M. King' s principal concern

was in connection with what he believed were "sloppy work
practices" and he candidly admtted as nuch (Tr. 55). However, |
find his sonewhat specul ative concern over a "probability that a
variety of possible circunstances” would result in an inm nent
danger to be conjecture unsupported by any credible facts. As
for M. Price's testinony, | find that while he is a qualified

el ectrical expert, his testinony was nostly theoretical and
specul ative. He has never been in the dimx Mne, did not view
the conditions cited by the inspectors during the course of the

i nspections, and had no firsthand know edge of those conditions.
MSHA' s attenpts to support the inmm nent-danger order by sinply
having M. Price present listening to the testinony and giving
his opinions are rejected. Accordingly, |I conclude and find that
MSHA has failed to establish a prima facie case of inm nent
danger, and the section 107(a) order in this regard i n VACATED.

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Docket No. WEST 79-27-M
Fact of Violations

The overall conditions or practices described by |nspector
King on the face of the conbined section 104(a) citation and
section 107(a) inm nent-danger Order No. 331891 are as foll ows:

The electrically powered equi pnrent on the core dril
| ocated at 9 IVL East, 929 Level had not been | ocked
out before mechanical work was done on the dril
(12-16). The power cable to the notor on the drill had
not been isolated (4-11). The power cable to the



swi tchbox on the drill rig was
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not bushed (12-8). The 2/ o0 power cable feeding the drill rig
had an i nadequate splice in it 180 ft. east down the drift
(12-13). 240 ft. east down the drift where the powercable
enters the main switch, it was not bushed (12-8).

As indicated earlier, each of the bracketed nunerica
references follow ng the conditions described in the order are
references to the nandatory regul atory sections found in Part 57,
Title 30, Code of Federal Regulations. In addition, the top
portion of the citation formitself, in the space | abeled "Part
and Section,"” includes a citation to mandatory standard section
57.12-30, which provides as follows: "Wen a potentially
dangerous condition is found it shall be corrected before
equi prent or wiring is energized."

MSHA' s civil penalty proposals include a separate proposa
for an alleged violation of section 57.12-30, and | take note of
the fact that the portion of the citation asserting a violation
of section 57.4-11, for an alleged failure to isolate the dril
not or power cable was dism ssed on MSHA's notion at the hearing.
Since the Secretary opted not to file any posthearing argunents,
I have no way of knowi ng the theory of MSHA's assertion that
d i max has sonmehow viol ated section 57.12-30. One can specul ate
that the inspector believed that all of the conbined individua
violations enunerated on the face of the citation/order also
viol ated section 57.12-30. However, after close exam nation of
the trial transcript, |I find no testinony or evidence advanced by
MSHA to support a violation of section 57.12-30, separate and
apart fromany of the other enunerated cited alleged violations.

Al t hough MSHA' s counsel alluded to section 57.12-30 during a
di scussion of the manner in which the drill nmotor leg wires were
taped (Tr. 191-192), and touched on it during his opening remarks
(Tr. 46-47), it is clear to ne that Inspector King did not
specifically cite the wire | eads which he believed were
i nadequately taped, as a separate violation. Petitioner's
counsel stated that this was in fact the case. That is,
I nspector King did not cite what he believed was a poor splicing
job on the wire leads testified to as violations (Tr. 44).
Counsel believed that the conditions concerning the wire notor
| eads had sonething to do with "the standard that requires
adequat e neasures or whatever the wording is" (Tr. 44). He also
conceded that the wire lead conditions testified to by I|Inspector
Ki ng were not anong those conditions cited on the face of his
order (Tr. 44).

After careful review and consideration of the entire record
adduced in these proceedings, | cannot conclude and find that
MSHA has established a violation of nandatory safety standard
section 57.12-30, and that portion of the citation citing this
al l eged violation is VACATED and MSHA' s proposal for a civil
penalty for this asserted violation is REJECTED and DI SM SSED

Citation No. 331891-C, Decenber 11, 1978, 30 C.F.R O
57.12-8, states that "the power cable to the sw tchbox on the
drill rig was not bushed."” Citation No. 331891-F states that



"240 ft. down the drift, where the power cable enters the main
switch, it was not bushed."
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Section 57.12-8 states as foll ows:

Power wires and cables shall be insul ated adequately
where they pass into or out of electrical conpartnents.
Cabl es shall enter netal frames of notors, splice
boxes, and el ectrical conmpartments only through proper
fittings. Wen insulated wires, other than cables,
pass through netal franmes, the holes shall be
substantially bushed with insul ated bushi ngs.

Al t hough I nspector King's citation states that the dril
swi t chbox power cable was not bushed, the fact is that a fitting
or bushing was provided but that M. King believed it was
defective because it permitted the cable or conductors to nove up
and down as they entered the top of the box and, in short, he did
not believe that the fitting was a proper fitting. Since both
the inspector and M. Hack agreed that the ternms "bushing" and
"fitting" are used interchangeably, the fact that M. King used
the term "bushed" does not, in ny view, render the citation
defective. The question presented is whether MSHA has
established a violation by a preponderance of the evidence.

I find that MSHA has established that the power cable
entering the drill swi tchbox did not enter the top of the box at
t he openi ng provided through a proper fitting. In short, it was
not bushed as required by section 57.12-8. Having exam ned a
Chase Nippl e produced at the hearing (Exh. G 6), | conclude that
it was not a proper fitting for use with the cable in question
because it did not permt the cable to be maintained in a
"l ocked-in" or rigid position, but rather, allowed for free
novenent of the cable in and out of the box opening. The
i nspector observed insulated wires protruding fromthe opening,
and al though a Chase N pple may have provi ded sone protection
agai nst possible cutting, | cannot conclude that it provided
adequate protection to prevent the cable or cable conductors from
being pulled out of the box and bei ng accidentally disconnected
in the event tension were applied to the cable. Ctation No.
331891-C i s AFFI RVED

Wth regard to the power cable which entered the main
di sconnect swi tchbox some 240 feet down the drift and outby the
drill rigitself, I find that MSHA has established a violation by
a preponderance of the evidence. Although Inspector King's
narrative description of the condition cited is far froma nodel
of clarity, | believe it is clear that he cited section 57.12-8
because the box opening through which the cabl e passed cont ai ned
no fitting at all to keep the cable in place and to prevent it
fromcom ng | oose or being pulled out of the box. Again, while
the inspector used the term"bushed,"” it seens clear to nme from
his testinmony that since there was no fitting at all, he believed
the standard was violated. Since the second sentence of the
standard requires that cables entering electrical conpartnents
shall enter only through proper fittings, the absence of any
device at all to maintain the cable in place is sufficient to
establish a violation of the cited standard. Respondent's
evi dence does not rebut the fact that at the point where the



cable entered the box, no fitting or other device was present to
prevent the cable from being cut or accidentally pulled out or
di sconnected fromthe box. Citation No. 331891-F i s AFFI RVED.
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Citation No. 331891-D, Decenber 11, 1978, 30 C.F.R [O57.12-13,
states the "the 2/0 power cable feeding the drill rig had an
i nadequate splice in it 180 ft. east down the drift." Mandatory
standard section 57.12-13 states as foll ows:

Per manent splices and repairs nmade in power cables,
i ncludi ng the ground conductor where provided, shall be:

(a) Mechanically strong with electrical conductivity
as near as possible to that of the original

(b) Insulated to a degree at |east equal to that of
the original, and sealed to exclude noisture; and

(c) Provided with damage protection as near as
possible to that of the original, including good
bonding to the outer jacket.

Inspector King's citation asserts that the cable in question
had an "i nadequate" splice. The term"inadequate" is a rather
broad conclusion and it would be nuch better if MSHA inspectors
woul d detail their findings in nore specific terms so that an
operator is inforned as to what is required for corective action
and abatenent. NMore attention to such detail will also preclude
evidentiary and credibility problenms which invariably always
regularly arise when citations are drafted in such a genera
manner, and an inspector later attenpts to justify his citation
at the hearing nonths |ater.

Exhibit G5 is a photograph of the splice in question and
I nspector King testified that while the splice phase conductors
were corrected and taped and the ground conductor was intact and
spliced with the other conductors, the outer cable jacket was
m ssi ng. Respondent does not dispute the fact that the cable
splice in question did not contain an outer jacket and that it
was not bonded at all. Further, respondent’'s own w tness, M.
Hack, candidly admitted that the |ack of an outer cable jacket at
the splice did not offer danage protection as nearly as possible
to that of the original cable, and that the cable in such a
condition was not as mechanically strong as the original

I conclude that the condition of the cable splice as
depicted by Exhibit G5, coupled with the testinmony of M. King
and M. Hack, supports a finding that the failure to install an
out er bonded jacket to the cable splice in question rendered it
i nadequate in that a cable in that condition is not nechanically
strong as nearly as possible to that of the original cable with
the outer jacket intact, nor does it provide damage protection as
nearly as possible to that of the original cable. Failure to
install the outer bonded cable as part of the splicing process
constitutes a violation of section 57.12-13, and Citation No.
331891-D i s AFFI RVED

Citation No. 331891-E, Decenber 11, 1978, 30 C.F.R O
57.12-16, states that "the electrically powered equi pnent on the
core drill located at the 9 IVL East, 929 Level had not been



| ocked out before nechani cal work was done on the drill."
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Section 57.12-16 states as foll ows:

El ectrically powered equi pnent shall be deenergized
bef ore nechani cal work is done on such equi pnent.
Power switches shall be | ocked out or other neasures
taken whi ch shall prevent the equi pnent from bei ng
energi zed without the know edge of the individuals
working on it. Suitable warning notices shall be
posted at the power switch and signed by the
i ndi vi dual s who are to do the work. Such | ocks or
preventative devices shall be renoved only by the
persons who installed themor by authorized personnel

I nspector King's citation asserts generally that
"electrically powered equipnent on the drill rig was not | ocked
out." Again, the citation is rather anbiguous since it does not
specify the particul ar equi pnment that M. King had in mnd at the
time he issued the citation. However, his testinony reflects
that what he had in mnd was the fact that the sw tchbox nounted
on the drill rig itself, as shown in photographic Exhibits G2
and G 3, was not |ocked out (Tr. 62). The reason that it was not
| ocked out is that the box was not equi pped with a hasp or |ock
attachment, and in these circunstances, M. King believed that
the main di sconnect switch |ocated sone 240 feet away (Exhs. G7
and G 8), and which supplied power to the rig should have been
| ocked out. Wiile it is clear fromthe photographs that the
di sconnect box was equipped with a | ock and hasp, and that it was
in place at the tine the citation issued, M. King' s testinony
that the switch handle was in the ON position, indicating that
the power was on the cable exiting the box, has not been rebutted
by the respondent.

Respondent concedes that the drill rig sw tchbox was not
| ocked out (Tr. 195). |Its defense to the citation is based on
the fact that the drill itself was deenergized, that the
el ectrical source to the drill notor was di sconnected, and that
mechani cal work to conplete the installation of a new notor had
not been conpleted. In addition, since several steps were
required to activate the flow of current to the notor | egs,
respondent al so argues that it would have been inpossible for the
motor | egs to have been energi zed without the know edge of the
i ndi vi dual s worki ng on the equi prment.

Respondent's argunments in defense of the citation are
rejected. In ny view, these argunents go to the extent of the
gravity or seriousness of the situation presented at the tine the
citation issued. Although the facts may support a finding that
respondent was in partial conpliance with section 57.12-16 by
deenergizing the drill rig notor by disconnecting it fromits
power source, and that the drill switchbox itself was not
energi zed or functional due to the maintenance whi ch was taking
pl ace, the fact is that in this case the main di sconnect
swi t chbox whi ch supplied power to the rig was energi zed and was
not | ocked out by throwing the switch to the OFF position and
| ocking the box in that node. Therefore, to this extent, |
concl ude that MSHA has established a violation of the second



sentence of section 57.12-16, which clearly requires that power
swi tches be | ocked out while nechanical work is being perforned.
The "ot her neasures" preventative argunments advanced
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by the respondent |eave too nuch to the inmagination and they are
rejected as an absolute defense to the citation, but may be
considered in mtigation of the seriousness of the citation
condition. Citation No. 331891-E is AFFI RVED

Citation No. 333658, Decenber 13, 1978, 30 C.F.R O
57.12-34, states as follows: "The portable flood |ights around
the Boyles Brothers drill rig at 9 IVL East 929 | evel were not
guarded. The light bulbs could easily be reached whil e standing
on drill rig platform?™

Section 57.12-34 requires that "portable extension |ights,
and other lights that by their |ocation present a shock or burn
hazard, shall be guarded.”

Although it is true that the drill rig lights were not
energi zed at the tinme the citation issued, this fact may go to
the gravity of the citation but it nmay not serve as an absol ute
defense to the violation. The record establishes that none of
the lights on the drill rig were guarded. The |ight depicted on
phot ographic Exhibit G2 would be within one's reach and
respondent concedes that it could present a hazard if it were
energi zed. Wth regard to the other lights shown in Exhibit G1,
whi | e I nspector Enderby stated on the face of the citation that
they could easily be reached while standing on the drill rig
platform | believe his real concern was his belief that the
lights could have been broken by a drill bit used on the drill.
M. Hack testified that the lights are sone 12 feet off the nine
floor and approximately 10 feet off the drill platform

I find that the location of the three |lights as shown in
Exhibit G 1 was such as to reasonably preclude a shock or burn
hazard in the unlikely event they were broken by sonmeone handling
adrill bit. The location of the |ights some 10 feet off the deck
of the rig would place themout of the reach of someone who may
i nadvertently come into contact within any exposed filaments. As
for the light bulb shown in Exhibit G2, its location is such as
to bring it within reach of anyone working in the area, and, as
i ndi cated above, respondent conceded that this unguarded |i ght
presented a hazard if it were energized. Accordingly, Ctation
No. 333658, as applied to the single unguarded drill rig |ight
bul b, is AFFI RVED

Citation No. 333657, Decenber 12, 1978, 30 C.F.R O
57.12-13, states as follows: "A bad splice was observed on the
440 volt power supply cable to the Chentron Wl der on South end
of outside storke shop. The wel der was being used at the tinmne.
A Tic Tracer was used to find this condition."

I nspector Enderby's citation alleges that the wel der cable
in question contained a "bad splice.” That conclusion is not
further el aborated on by the inspector and the citation is devoid
of any specifics. However, his testinony clearly reflects that
he issued the citation after visually observing that the splice
contai ned sone torn and deteriorated tape, and by use of an
instrument called a Tic Tracer, he determ ned that the splice had



sonmehow | ost some of its original insulation qualities, thereby
supporting his assertion that the splice was "bad."
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Section 57.12-13 requires that permanent splices and repairs
made in power cables be mechanically strong, insulated and provi ded
wi th damage protection. The requirenent that it be nechanically
strong includes a requirenment that the electrical conductivity of
the splice be as near as possible to that of the original cable.
Insul ation nust be to a degree at |east equal to that of the
original cable, and the splice nmust be sealed to exclude
nmoi sture. Damage protection nmust be as near as possible to that
of the original cable, and nust include good bonding to the outer
j acket .

By failing to detail on the face of the citation the
specific cable defects noted, it is difficult to ascertain from
that notice how one can conclude that the splice was "bad."
However, a review of M. Enderby's testinony reflects sonme doubt
on his part that the cable was adequately seal ed to exclude
nmoi sture or to provi de damage protection. The evidence in
support of this conclusion is limted to M. Enderby's visua
observations that the taped splice was torn and sonmewhat
deteriorated, coupled with his use of a Tic Tracer device. M.
Enderby did not examine the splice after it was cut out and
renmoved fromservice, he was not famliar with dinmax's
procedures for naking splices, and he could not recall whether
the cable was AC or DC. In these circunstances, | cannot
concl ude that MSHA has established that the so-called "bad
splice"” was in fact made in such a manner as to be in violation
of the cited safety standard, and the reasons for ny finding in
this regard foll ow

M. Enderby's use of the Tic Tracer to support his finding
of a "bad" splice is somewhat suspect. To begin with, his
testinmony that he used the Tic Tracer to detect a drop or | eakage
in cable current is directly contrary to his testinony taken by
deposition where he stated that he used the device as a neans of
det erm ni ng whet her the cable was a ground cable or main source
of power. Further, he did not establish to ny satisfaction that
the use of such a device is a reliable nmeans for determning the
exi stence of a "bad splice.”" As a matter of fact, M. Enderby
candidly admitted that any current |eakage indicated by a Tic
Tracer is not in fact an indication of dimnished insulation, and
such a conclusion on his part cane by "office conversations” with
his fellow inspectors. Further, a review of the manufacturer's
speci fications concerning the use of the device (Exh. G9), makes
no reference to the fact that it my be used to detect faulty
splices. As a matter of fact, the literature seens to indicate
that the use of the device is limted to AC current, and | am not
convinced from M. Enderby's testinony that he was at all certain
as to whether the cable he cited was in fact ACor DC. Quite
frankly, aside fromhis cursory observations that the tape used
to make the splice was torn, I amnot convinced that he made any
real evaluation or assessment of the condition of the splice, and
once observing that the outer splice tape was torn, he nmade a
summary conclusion that the splice itself did not neet the
requi renents of section 57.12-13. In these circunstances, |
conclude and find that MSHA has failed to establish a violation
and the citation is VACATED



Si ze of Business and Effect of Cvil Penalty on Respondent's
Ability to Remain in Business

The parties stipulated that Cinmax is a | arge m ne operator
and that any civil penalty assessnents will not adversely affect
its ability to remain in business. | adopt this stipulation as
my finding in this regard.
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Gavity

Citation No. 333658, concerning the unguarded |ight bulb on
the drill rig, is nonserious. The rig was down for maintenance,
no one was in the area, and the inspector conceded that the
condition would be serious only if the lights were energi zed. The
lights were not only deenergi zed, but the power swi tch had been
| ocked out as a result of M. King's order (Tr. 63).

Citation No. 331891-D, concerning the open splice |ocated
180 feet down the drift, is serious. Although the splice was
hung on a nail, failure to provide jacket-to-jacket bonding
exposed the splice to possible danage or saturation with water in
the event it fell off the nail and into the water. The |ack of
an outer jacket also affected the mechanical strength of the
splice and respondent's own witness adnmitted that this was the
case.

Citation No. 331891-F, concerning the |ack of a bushing on
the main di sconnect switchbox power cable is serious. Power was
on the box and the cable was energi zed. The lack of any bushing
or fitting would in tine subject the cable to possibl e damage or
becom ng di sconnected fromthe power source inside the box.

Citation No. 331891-C, concerning the inadequate bushing on
the drill rig switchbox, is nonserious. The inspector's concern
was over the possible cutting of the cable jacket caused by
vibration of the rig. However, at the tinme the citation issued,
the rig was down for mai ntenance, no one was present in the area,
the nmotor was not energized, there was no power entering the
swi t chbox, and the cable itself was not cut and was otherwi se in
good condition.

Citation No. 331891-E, concerning the failure to | ock out

the drill rig at the main disconnect switch, is nonserious. Wile
it is true that power was on at the main di sconnect switch, the
drill rigitself was not in operation since it was down for

mai nt enance. The nechani cal work being done on the drill was

work connected with the notor. However, the notor was not
energi zed and was di sconnected fromthe rig. As a matter of
fact, Inspector King did not know whether the notor was being
taken out or being put back in.

Negl i gence

| conclude that each of the violations which have been
affirmed resulted fromordi nary negligence. | find that Ci max
failed to exerci se reasonable care to prevent the cited
conditions and | believe that closer attention to the work being
performed and onshift or preshift inspections by qualified
el ectrical personnel possibly could have prevented the conditions
cited by the inspectors.

Good Faith Conpliance

Citation No. 333657, concerning the unguarded |ights on the



drill rig, was abated on Decenber 21, 1978, a day before the tine
fixed by the inspector, and this reflects rapid good-faith
conpliance by dinmax. As for the remaining violations which I
have affirned, the record supports a finding that Cimax
corrected the conditions cited in good faith after the order

i ssued and after being advised of the conditions by the

i nspect or.
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H story of Prior Violations

Cimax's prior history of violations is reflected in Exhibit
G 9, an MSHA conputer printout indicating 159 paid violations for
the period covering Decenber 12, 1976, through Decenber 11, 1978.
I ncl uded anong these prior paid violations are 17 for violations
of section 57.12-8, three for prior violations of section
57.12-13, five for prior violations of section 57.12-34, and one
prior violation of section 57.12-16.

For an operation the size of Cimax, | cannot conclude that
its overall prior history of violations is necessarily a poor
one. However, | take note of the 17 prior citations for

violations of the cable fitting and bushi ng requirenments of
section 57.12-8, and an inference can be nade that this seens to
be a recurring problemwhich Cinmx needs to address in its

m ni ng operation.

ORDER

Docket No. DENV 79-196- M

In view of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons nade in
this case, the section 107(a) inmm nent-danger order, No. 331891
Decenber 11, 1978, is VACATED
Docket No. WEST 79-27-M

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usions, the
followi ng citati ons are VACATED, and the proposals for assessnent

of civil penalties, insofar as these alleged violations are
concerned, are DI SM SSED

Citation No. Dat e 30 C.F.R Standard
331891- A 12/ 11/ 78 57.12-30
333657 12/ 12/ 78 57.12-13

Citation No. 331891-B, Decenber 11, 1978, 30 C.F.R O
57.4-11, was DI SM SSED fromthe bench upon notion by MSHA, and it
i s VACATED.

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons
concerning the citations which | have affirned, and considering
the six statutory criteria set forth in section 110(i) of the
Act, civil penalties are assessed as foll ows:

Citation No. Dat e 30 C.F.R Standard Assessnent
331891-C 12/ 11/ 78 57.12-8 $200
331891-D 12/ 11/ 78 57.12-13 250
331891-E 12/ 11/ 78 57.12-16 200
331891-F 12/ 11/ 78 57.12-8 250
333658 12/ 13/ 78 57.12-34 20

$920
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Respondent is ORDERED to pay the civil penalties assessed in
t hese proceedi ngs, as indicated above, in the total anount of
$920 within thirty (30) days of the date of these decisions.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



